

Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN)

Scottish Public Health Obesity Special Interest Group (SPHOSIG) -

Review of the Obesity Route Map (ORM)

Ann Kerr

October 2015

Contents

SPHOSIG Membership		
Acknowledgements		4
1 Executive Summary		5
2 Recommendations		
3 Introduction		10
3.1	Purpose	10
3.2	Background to the ORM	10
3.3	Why do overweight and obesity matter?	11
4 What is obesity and how much do we understand?		
4.1		12
4.2	Understanding of obesity	
5 Cu	irrent trends overweight and obesity in Scotland	14
5.1	Obesity Route Map Indicators	14
5.2	Key data not included in the ORM indicators	14
5.3	Strengths and weaknesses of current data	. 15
6 Sc	ottish Policy and Overweight and Obesity	17
7 Su	Immary of current progress on Obesity Route Map commitments	18
7.1	Summary of progress: Energy In (Food - Pillar 1)	18
7.2	Summary of progress: Energy Out (Physical Activity - Pillar 2)	. 19
7.3	Summary of progress: Early Years (Pillar 3)	. 19
7.4	Summary of progress: Workplace (Pillar 4)	20
7.5	Summary of progress: Generic (unnumbered) actions	20
7.6	Summary of progress: What was left out of the ORM	
8 How comprehensive was the Action Plan?		
8.1	The Action Points: did they form an appropriate mix and balance of action	ıs?
	24	
8.2	The Action Points: strengths, weaknesses and gaps	
9 Action, research, reports and policy beyond the ORM – What can we can		
	rn from elsewhere?	
9.1	Current research	
9.2	Local infrastructure	
9.3	Non-ORM Action in Scotland	
9.4	International policy	
9.5	UK policy	
	Vhat more is now needed?	
	The evolving nature of the problem	
	Is the current ORM able to deliver change?	
	What more is now needed: summary	
	Conclusions and recommendations	
	References	
13 A	Appendices	69

SPHOSIG Membership

Chair – Drew Walker, Director of Public Health, NHS Tayside

- Annie Anderson, Professor of Public Health Nutrition, University of Dundee
- Caroline Comerford, Health Improvement Co-ordinator, NHS Grampian
- Ruth Jepson, Reader and Senior Scientific Advisor, Scottish Collaboration for Public Health Research and Policy (SCPHRP)
- Ann Kerr, formerly Team Head, NHS Health Scotland
- Mike Lean, Chair of Human Nutrition, University of Glasgow
- Cath King, Health Improvement Policy Manager, Highland Council (until July 2015)
- Graham Mackenzie, Consultant in Public Health Medicine, NHS Lothian
- Phil Mackie, Lead Consultant, ScotPHN
- Michele McCoy, Interim Joint Director of Public Health, NHS Dumfries & Galloway
- Fergus Millan / Tony Rednall, Creating Health Team, Public Health Division, Scottish Government
- Susan Pryde, Head Nutrition Science Policy / Heather Peace, Food Standards Scotland
- Laura Stewart, Tayside Weight Management Pathway Manager, NHS Tayside
- Joyce Thomson, Dietetic Consultant in Public Health Nutrition, Directorate of Public Health, NHS Tayside

Lead author – Ann Kerr was lead author on this report. She was a senior manager at NHS Health Scotland; she is currently a trustee of ASH Scotland and the Breastfeeding Network.

Acknowledgements

We would like to extend our immense thanks to all those from local authorities, NHS Boards including adult and child healthy weight leads, NHS Health Scotland including Community Food and Health Scotland and the Healthy Living Award, NHS Education Scotland, Food Standards Scotland, Transport Scotland, Paths for All, Scottish Government and other national agencies who provided updates on their activity against the Obesity Route Map.

We would like to thank all members of the Scottish Public Health Obesity Special Interest Group (SPHOSIG) for their contribution as well as members of its Child Healthy Weight Expert Group (CHWE) and other experts from across the UK who were interviewed and/or provided information as part of this project. In particular:

- Jamie Blackshaw, Team Leader: Obesity and Healthy Weight, Health and Wellbeing, Public Health England
- Ian McClure, Health Development Policy Branch, Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, Northern Ireland
- Kate MacKay, Senior Medical Officer, Scottish Government
- Nanette Mutrie, Director of Physical Activity for Health Research Centre, University of Edinburgh
- Harry Rutter, Public Health Physician, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
- Geof Rayner, Honorary Research Fellow, City University London
- Edward Rees, Cangen Atal Gordewdra ac lechyd Plant/Obesity Prevention and Children's Health Branch, Y Gyfarwyddiaeth dros lechyd y Cyhoedd/Directorate for Public Health, Llywodraeth Cymru/Welsh Government
- John J Reilly, Professor of Physical Activity and Public Health Science, Physical Activity for Health Group, School of Psychological Sciences and Health, University of Strathclyde
- Catharine Ward Thompson, Professor of Landscape Architecture and Director, OPENspace Research Centre, University of Edinburgh
- Charlotte Wright, Professor of Community Child Health, University of Glasgow / NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde

1 Executive Summary

On obesity in Scotland:

- 1. The prevalence of overweight and obesity in Scotland is high, and the underlying trend is increasing and shows a strong link with inequalities, particularly for women and children. Measurement and data reporting would benefit from review to improve our understanding and track progress.
- 2. Overweight and obesity are major contributors to ill health in Scotland. Two areas of particular concern are:
 - type II diabetes where almost 90% of people with the condition have a Body Mass Index (BMI) of over 25 (1); and
 - the impact on the short and long term health of both mothers and babies of obesity in pregnancy.(2)
- 3. Overweight and obesity result from an obesogenic environment acting on individual biology and psychology to influence individual lifestyles leading to overconsumption of energy dense foods and inactive lifestyles expending less energy. Simply encouraging individual choices that change behaviour is not a sufficient approach to dealing with the complex interplay or factors that create obesity and overweight.

On the Obesity Route Map in Scotland:

- 4. The Obesity Route Map (ORM)(3) focuses on prevention, and not on the treatment of obesity. Overweight and obesity can be seen as an epidemic, if a slow moving one, and would benefit from the coordination of prevention, risk management and treatment that an epidemic requires.
- 5. The ORM and its subsequent Action Plan are still relevant and constituted a reasonable response to the evidence at the time. Our review of subsequent evidence supports the continuation of a broad range of actions.
- 6. A minority of actions in the Action Plan have been successful in reaching their milestones. Most have progressed towards the milestones set. A few did not start or progressed poorly despite considerable effort.
- 7. Where carried out, evaluations generally show small positive effects. It is not possible to recommend any individual actions to be scaled up and further work is needed to examine the benefits of scaling up such actions.
- 8. There are distinct characteristics of both the more successful and least successful ORM actions. Successful ones have focused on opt-in interventions with individuals and actions are largely those that were underway or already

planned at the time of launch; new developments require greater support. Structural and environmental changes are slow to progress and require sustained effort.

- 9. The ORM's 4 'pillars' of energy in, energy out, early years and workplace remain important, however, the way in which they are delivered may not be as effective as it could be. A move is proposed towards community and place-based approaches focused on areas of deprivation, with broad lifestyle, and whole life course interventions, alongside continued work with individuals.
- 10. There have been challenges in working on food and nutrition. Whilst recognising that significant work has taken place more effort is required to achieve impact, and if progress cannot be made then moves should be made to regulate.
- 11. The following generic commitments in the ORM did not translate into the Action Plan and progress on them was limited. Further action is required on:
 - increasing public awareness and professional education;
 - improved national leadership and accountability; and
 - an integrated research strategy.

On emerging obesity challenges for Scotland:

- 12. In addition this review has highlighted the need for:
 - a stronger infrastructure locally to enable effective coordination of action to achieve impact;
 - the integration of policies across all fields, and strategies for effective implementation without unintended effects to promote obesity. This would include greater coordination of outcomes, indicators, evaluation and reporting;
 - a review of direct and indirect funding for the prevention, management and treatment of overweight and obesity to ensure effective investment in view of the high cost burden of later disease; and
 - the NHS to be an exemplar in many aspects, particularly with supporting those of its staff who are overweight and obese and could benefit from weight management.

2 Recommendations

a) Recommendation 1

The development of a revised ORM would benefit from being led by a dedicated specialist supported by an expert group and the setting up of a formal review process. The ORM should be revised in light of progress and updated to include:

- recognition of the epidemic nature of the problem in that all population groups are affected and, accepting the principle, as defined by the World Health Organisation (WHO) that an epidemic can only be resolved by government-led action, set goals to stop the increase in overweight and obesity across all population groups in Scotland. This should acknowledge the need to take a full life course approach which prioritises early years, but also addresses young people and later life;
- recognition of the need for coordination of action(s) on prevention, weight management and treatment in establishing a national weight management programme;
- action to increase public and professional awareness and understanding;
- action to tackle inequalities through action at locality level using co-production and assets-based approaches;
- ensuring effort is maintained in both tackling the long term environmental and regulatory actions and action aimed at individual behaviours;
- auditing the range of policies that impact on overweight and obesity with a view to increasing integration, effective implementation and assessment of progress;
- strengthening the national and local infrastructure to address obesity and overweight and clarify accountability;
- reviewing the funding available for direct interventions to address overweight and obesity and that funding is identified to deal with preventive strategies, treatment and health conditions attributable to overweight and obesity;
- formally reviewing the measurements used for overweight and obesity and the way in which existing data can be used more effectively to improve understanding and enable effective monitoring at both local and national levels;

- establishing a comprehensive strategy for research, evaluation, and service development, including, but not exclusively government funded research, to prevent and manage obesity and overweight;
- working across the whole food system on actions that are likely to have direct impact on weight;
- increasing physical activity and reducing sedentary behaviour for all with a focus on the inactive and overweight; and
- encouraging leadership from the NHS, putting a priority on reducing staff overweight and obesity.

b) Recommendation 2

In view of the epidemic nature of the problem, local action should be led by Directors of Public Health and include:

- providing senior leadership to advocate across NHS Boards and Local Authorities, Joint Adult Health and Social Care Boards, and Early Years Collaboratives to develop strong partnerships, for example with town planners and building designers;
- creating and taking the opportunities provided by health and social care integration and Community Planning Partnerships (CPPs) for coordinated action, monitoring and reporting to tackle the epidemic locally; and
- focusing on inequalities by taking a community and place based approach, with an emphasis on the obesogenic environment.

c) Recommendation 3

Key national agencies^{*} should increase coordination of action on overweight and obesity including:

• developing and maintaining shared outcome and evaluation frameworks;

^{*} Key agencies would include: Food Standards Scotland, sportscotland, Transport Scotland, NHS Health Scotland, Education Scotland, NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland, NHS Education Scotland, COSLA and voluntary sector organisations (e.g. Diabetes UK, British Heart Foundation, Scottish Cancer Prevention Network) and Obesity Action Scotland and others with an interest in reducing overweight and obesity).

- improving data though linkage, trend analysis and filling current gaps using appropriate outcome measures for excess body fat accumulation and its health consequences;
- increasing public and professional awareness; and
- improving practice through networks and major national events.

3 Introduction

3.1 Purpose

The Obesity Route Map (ORM), *Preventing Overweight and Obesity in Scotland: A Route Map Towards Healthy Weight* (3), was launched in 2010 and its accompanying Action Plan a year later.(4) It stated:

"Scotland has one of the highest levels of obesity in OECD countries with over a million adults and over 150,000 children obese. This is predicted to worsen with adult obesity levels reaching over 40% by 2030. Overweight and obesity brings with it a risk of disease and a cost to society that will directly impact on our ability to achieve sustainable economic growth. This situation is avoidable."

The ORM is now 5 years old. This report aims to take stock of the ORM with the intention to assess its effectiveness and make recommendations concerning what changes or further action should be taken in the light of the current trends, the prevalence of overweight and obesity, and any major developments in evidence. This review is not intended to be exhaustive, but should enable a judgement to be formed of whether the ORM should continue as it is, whether it needs updating, or whether a major revision, or indeed a new strategy, is required.

3.2 Background to the ORM

Whilst a number of Scottish policies could be expected to impact on overweight and obesity (see section 6) there was no specific Scottish strategy on obesity until Healthy Eating Active Living (2008)(5), which aimed to pull together action on physical activity and healthy eating. Scottish clinical guidance is available in SIGN 115.(6) The ORM followed on from *Healthy Eating Active Living* and was developed following prioritisation workshops (7) and expert consultation. Focused on prevention, the ORM recognises the issues of balance between energy consumed and energy expended and the importance of early years and the workplace in tackling obesity. These 4 'pillars' are dealt with separately and the proposed actions range from individual level action to societal actions. In addition the ORM recognised the need for strategic leadership, raising awareness, professional education and further research. Whilst clearly focusing on prevention, it mentions the need for treatment of overweight and obesity. Along with several generic recommendations for action in the ORM, the Action Plan laid out 60 specific actions. Leadership was provided by the Joint Obesity Group (JOG) under the leadership of the then Cabinet Secretary for Health and Well-being. A soft review of the ORM was originally envisaged by Scottish Government (SG) for 2013-14.

The issue of overweight and obesity has become a significant concern to the Scottish Directors of Public Health (SDsPH), leading to the establishment of a special interest group, the Scottish Public Health Obesity Special Interest Group

(SPHOSIG), in 2013. In 2014 the Scottish Government requested the SPHOSIG oversee a review of the findings from the evaluation of the Health, Efficiency, Access, Treatment (HEAT) target on child healthy weight(8) and subsequently this review of the ORM. Overseen by the SPHOSIG, the Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN) has undertaken both reviews on behalf of the SDsPH. Methodology for this review can be found in <u>appendix 1</u>.

3.3 Why do overweight and obesity matter?

Obesity is a major risk factor for a range of diseases and many long term conditions. These can broadly be divided into physical consequences (e.g. arthritis, back pain, sleep disorders, fatigue, dyspepsia), metabolic consequences (e.g. type II diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidaemia, and forms of cardiovascular disease) and mental/social consequences (mostly around unhappiness or depression) and certain cancers (including breast and colorectal). These clinical consequences start at different ages, with different levels of excess body fat, for different people. Of people with type II diabetes almost 90% have a BMI of over 25, about 50% have a BMI of over 30 and those who have a lower BMI, have excess fat in vital organs such as the liver, heart and pancreas whose functions are damaged.(1) It is estimated that 1 in 20 cancers are linked to overweight and obesity.(9)

The current burden of obesity and overweight to NHS Scotland is estimated to be \pounds 363 million a year. Taking into account loss of productivity attributable to loss of life or impaired life quality, the direct health care costs, and the additional needed to investment to mitigate the impact of obesity, it has been estimated that the total economic cost of obesity to Scotland ranges from £0.9 billion to £4.6 billion a year. (10)

4 What is obesity and how much do we understand?

4.1 Definition and measurement of obesity

Overweight and obesity is defined by the WHO as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health".(11) Body fat is difficult to measure as the 'gold-standard' methods are use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or underwater weighing. So 'proxy' methods, calibrated against these gold-standards, are used for surveys and in clinical work:

- the best approximation to body fat is estimation of body fat with published equations, using simple anthropometric measurements (height, weight, waist circumference); or
- (2) waist measurement alone gives reasonable ranking of total body fat. It is a better proxy for excess body fat or the consequences of metabolic disease in some groups (e.g. the less severely obese or younger people). This is because it measures fat at a specific part of the body in which it is stored as so can measure central fat distribution as well as by total body fat. As such, it is a proxy of risk associated with obesity; or
- (3) the Body Mass Index (BMI weight kg/height m²), which is better than weight alone, but rather less good than waist or estimated body fat.(12)

Measuring weight in children is also complex in that it needs to take into account the normal development of the child.

Currently population risk of overweight and obesity are most commonly measured by BMI and epidemiological cut offs for BMI are used. Different cut offs are used in clinical practice.(12)

4.2 Understanding of obesity

The cornerstone of our understanding and current policy is the Foresight report, *Tackling Obesity*, published in 2007.(13) The report drew on extensive reviews of the evidence and economic modelling to produce a comprehensive model of the factors influencing overweight and obesity and the likely impact on individuals and society if no action was taken. It elucidated the domains of influencing factors as those which acted on individual behaviour (physiology, psychology and eating and activity behaviours) and those which acted at population level (social psychology, planned environments and food industry, regulation and legislation) and emphasised the existence of an 'obesogenic environment' in which humans will tend to gain weight and become obese. The report recommended action at all levels across the life course, with an emphasis on structural changes that would affect a greater proportion of the population.

A rapid review of literature reviews carried out for this report (see <u>appendix 2</u>) concludes that the findings and recommendations of the Foresight report remain valid. On the whole the evidence base has been strengthened, in particular in

relation to sweetened drinks and sedentary behaviour, where the latter is recognised as an independent risk factor for a range of health conditions. The role of 'free sugars' has recently been highlighted with the recommendations by WHO and the UK Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN)(14),(15) that the goal for consumption should be reduced from 10% of daily energy intake from free sugars to 5%. The need to place greater emphasis on several areas was identified: tackling the obesogenic environment at all levels, improving perceptions of the problem; support in the community (particularly in less affluent areas), around schools, in the workplace and in policies and regulation affecting the consumption of energy dense food and encouraging a more active lifestyle.

5 Current trends overweight and obesity in Scotland

The prevalence of people who are overweight or obese in Scotland is unacceptably high with over 64% of the adult population in 2013 overweight or obese (37% overweight, 27% obese).(16) In comparison with other Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member states, Scotland ranks 5th highest for overweight (including obesity) and 6th highest for obesity alone (10). At school entry just under 23% of children are overweight or obese.(17) Prevalence increases with age up to age 75.(18) On the surface, trends appear to be levelling off if BMI is assessed (16); however, the underlying trend in body fat accumulation with age is still upwards. More extreme obesity is linked to socio-economic inequalities, particularly for women and children.(18),(19)

5.1 Obesity Route Map Indicators

16 indicators for the ORM action plan were identified in 2011. The indicators were updated in 2014.(20) A number of indicators were set for both individual behaviours and motivation for change at population level in the short and medium term. These show limited change:

- a significant decrease in sales and consumption of soft drinks with added sugar. However, levels of added sugar consumption, although they have fallen still remain too high;
- a possible decrease in screen time in children;
- no change in levels of physical activity (although some indication that the levels are increasing in girls); and
- the level of consumption of fats and sales of confectionery, biscuits cakes and pastries remain static.

The key health indicator set is the prevalence of type II Diabetes. The prevalence is known to be increasing rapidly in Scotland and developing at earlier ages (1); even accepting that this may be an underestimate because of the rate of undiagnosed type II in the population.

5.2 Key data not included in the ORM indicators

No indicators were set for overweight and obesity for mothers during pregnancy or in a child's early years. However information is recorded through maternity records and the Child Health Surveillance Programme (CHSP).(21)

Overweight and obesity in pregnancy increase risk of medical intervention in labour and of poorer outcomes for both mother and baby. Data of women reported at the national level shows approximately 24% overweight and 18% obese at the time of the first "booking" appointment.(22) This may be associated with socio-economic status (22); however there are significant gaps in the data and ISD are at the early stages of looking at trends.(23) Trends in breastfeeding were last reported in Scotland in 2015; these have remained static for some years. (24) The UK-wide Infant Nutrition Survey has recently shown a slight decrease in exclusive breastfeeding by more affluent women.(25)

The recent re-introduction of the 27-30 month review as part of routine child health surveillance, mean that height and weight data are again collected for this age group. At school entry the trend is showing a slight decrease in obesity, however when this is analysed by socio-economic status it is clear that the decrease is occurring in the more affluent children, whilst there is a clearly increasing trend in the least affluent.(19)

Recent comparison with data from other developed countries indicates that overweight and obesity are also linked to poor growth and lower stature indicating that not only are their nutrition and activity levels affecting weight but also growth overall.(26) The most reliable predictor of overweight in childhood is parental overweight and recent evidence indicates intergenerational effects.(27)

Progress towards the Scottish Dietary Goals (revised in 2013 they underpin diet and health policy in Scotland and are used for scientific monitoring purposes) is monitored by Food Standards Scotland using a combination of surveys, principally from secondary analysis of the Living Costs and Food Survey (LCF), with the most recent data available from 2001 to 2012.(28) Overall, there were small but significant decreases in the percentage of food energy from saturated fat and added sugars between 2001 and 2012, but intakes of saturated fat, total fat and added sugars remained too high. People living in the most deprived areas continued to consume the least fruit and vegetables, oil rich fish and fibre and the most added sugars. Conversely saturated fat intakes were highest in the most affluent. The results show the very slow rate of progress towards a diet that will improve and support the health of the Scottish population.

5.3 Strengths and weaknesses of current data

The Scottish Health Survey (SHeS) is a longstanding rolling survey, based on a sample of the population. Given how the data is collected, it can take several years' worth of data to be collected before an understanding of a particular topic can be gained. Some of the data in the SHeS is based on self-report. It is known that respondents overestimate the amount of physical activity they undertake; however, the level of over-estimation is consistent, so trends over time should be less affected. The SHeS only reports on children and young people in one broad 2-15 year category. The most recent SHeS uses BMI, waist circumference and the two together.(18) As noted above, there is considerable debate about the value of BMI in estimating population risk. It can be very misleading because it cannot distinguish between variations in body fat and in muscle mass, which have opposing implications on health. The use of BMI is particularly complex in childhood and

Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH) gives guidance on its use. (29)

Early years' data that are relevant to overweight and obesity are held in both maternal and child surveillance programmes as well as nutrition surveys, but may only be linked in occasional reports or research studies. The Child Health Surveillance Programme is comprehensive and has covered all Scottish children since 2005. However, our data on young people is lacking. There is no routine data collected for children and young people after school entry. Data at age 11 were previously recorded and the collection of this data was dropped following a review of the Child Health Surveillance programme in 2005.

Inequalities information is only sometimes reflected in published reports although for many data sets it can be extracted. This is a significant issue, particularly in situations where the different trends in socio-economic groups can, as here, lead to an overall impression that the situation is improving, when in fact there are major underlying trends which should be a matter of concern and attention.(19)

Only some data is published with trends and none with extrapolations of likely future trends although there may be occasional publication of trend data such as the epidemiological briefing published by ScotPHO.(12)

6 Scottish Policy and Overweight and Obesity

A comprehensive list of Scottish policies with details and web links can be found in <u>appendix 3</u>.

On the face of it the policy landscape in Scotland is strong, with national policies and action plans covering many areas that are likely to contribute to preventing overweight and obesity. As well as the ORM itself a number of key policies have noted a possible impact on overweight and obesity as a formal outcome. Examples are:

- Let's Make Scotland More Active(30);
- Maternal and Infant Nutrition Framework(31);
- Child Healthy Weight(19); and
- Recipe for success; the national food and drink policy(32);

Additionally, a number of policies in areas where there is clear evidence for potential impact do not have an explicit reference to obesity. Examples would be the current *National Planning Framework 3*; the *Youth Sports Strategy*; the *Play Strategy*, the *Active and Healthy Ageing Action plan* and *Let's Get Scotland Walking*.

Not all polices refer to other related policies, or recognise that they have a shared action that could lead to their separate outcomes. The broad range of policies that can impact on overweight and obesity mean that many different government departments and ministries are involved. It is possible that an action with low priority in one policy may have a greater priority in another. One exception is that there is a great deal of consistency between the ORM section on Early Years and the Maternal and Infant Nutrition Framework. This recognition of overlap and shared outcomes means that language and actions are also shared and more likely to be recognised by those responsible for implementation.

The ways in which progress on policies is monitored and evaluated vary considerably. Only a small number of policies have published evaluation reports or a dedicated evaluation strategy. There is an extent to which this is appropriate due to the nature of the work proposed or its priority locally and nationally. In the case of physical activity, the active strand of the Commonwealth Games legacy evaluation is an exemplar evaluation strategy, whilst making the most of data that are routinely gathered, it also seeks to fill the gaps to ensure a full picture is obtained, and importantly sets time scales for reports.

7 Summary of current progress on Obesity Route Map commitments

The majority of commitments in the ORM were articulated as discrete actions in the ORM Action Plan. The Action Plan focused on 4 'pillars': energy in, energy out, early years and workplace. Detailed information on activity received as part of this review can be found in <u>appendix 4</u>; however, a brief review of each pillar is undertaken here. There were generic commitments in the ORM which did not translate into numbered action points in the Action Plan. Progress on these commitments is also noted here.

7.1 Summary of progress: Energy In (Food - Pillar 1)

There are 18 Action Points (AP) in this area, most of which are in progress. Some have reached short term milestones, such as introducing the EU food information for consumers' legislation, providing industry with consistent guidance for 'front of pack' labelling and EU legislation on nutrition and health claims. There are several where the direction has changed or been overtaken by events. One has not progressed and another was deemed inappropriate for transfer between sectors. Over and above routine national monitoring, monitoring is in place for AP3 and evaluation has been carried out for AP2 with evaluation of a third in progress. Costs have been provided for 3 of the APs.

Many APs which have progressed include those which were already underway or at an advanced stage of planning at the time of the Action Plan launch. This applies particularly to the work of Community Food and Health Scotland (CFHS) and the Healthy Living Programme (HLP). Whilst the CFHS work aims to support community development through food, the HLP largely depends on organisations and retailers opting in and their staff and customers then purchasing healthy options. It could be said that, with the exception of schools based actions, the work that has gone furthest is that which was the easiest to tackle or relies on individuals to opt in. Work with the food industry, which could have more far reaching impact, requires more sustained effort to achieve the desired outcomes.

Recognition should be given to industry for its contribution to the ORM targets, which is backed by monitoring evidence on the reduction in the consumption of added sugar drinks and saturated fat in savory snacks; work to review and tighten salt targets to 2017; and introducing consistent 'front of pack' labelling. However, work with industry has been slow. A voluntary framework for working with the food and drink industry 'Supporting Healthy Choices' (SHC) (33) was developed from late 2012 and launched in June 2014 after the Food Industry Group (FIG) failed to produce agreed commitments from industry to work towards a healthier food and drink environment. The framework covers children's health, rebalancing promotions, supporting consumers and communities and reformulation (including the HLP above) whist putting an emphasis on the public sector being an exemplar for food and drink provision.

A number of APs, now contained within SHC, such as the Healthy Living Award and the Healthy Living Programme, have developed through the provision of guidance (e.g. food and drink promotions), and for the *Beyond the School Gate* initiative (34), there is an intention to establish baseline data and track development. Progress in schools has been substantial and continues but is focused on monitoring uptake and participation rather than impact.

A Scottish Government consultation on *Becoming a Good Food Nation* (35) to update *Recipe for Success* was concluded in 2015.(32) Actions arising in response so far include the setting up of a food commission and the potential for local food champions. This has the potential to further impact on the food related actions in the ORM.

7.2 Summary of progress: Energy Out (Physical Activity - Pillar 2)

There are 23 APs, of which 14 have reached short term milestones with progress on all but 2 APs. In total, 9 APs have monitoring in place and a major evaluation is underway for the Commonwealth Games active legacy programme. Information on costs has been provided for 3 projects.

There is good collaboration on Active Travel and planning and design, aspects which have the potential for population-wide effect. However, as yet, the national travel surveys report little change. The launch of the National Planning Framework 3 (NPF3) (36) has provided impetus, but it is not always clear how the implementation will be evaluated. Activity in schools through the curriculum is now well established and monitoring is in place, however the impact on overweight and obese children or those at risk is not known. Work within the curriculum affects all children and the uptake of Active Schools activities is impressive however only one local authority responded on how it was reaching inactive children. Similar to action on food, it is the school setting where action is best embedded, but it should be noted that this work was underway in advance of the ORM and has been monitored in terms of uptake and participation rather than impact. The Cashback Initiative is one of the few APs in the ORM to address inequalities. With the exception of schools-based APs, most of this broad agenda is at an early stage. Increasing levels of physical activity and sport participation have clearly been given significant impetus by the Commonwealth Games.

7.3 Summary of progress: Early Years (Pillar 3)

There are 12 APs. Action has taken place on all 12. The publication of the *Maternal* and *Infant Nutrition Framework* (31) and the *Getting it Right for Every Child* (*GIRFEC*) (37) guide and pledge are complete. The HEAT target on breastfeeding did not continue and the rate remains static. The territorial NHS Boards provide annual reports to the Scottish Government on infant feeding in line with the *Maternal*

and Infant Nutrition Framework and progress has been made against these milestones. Resource information has only been provided on breastfeeding.

The national data indicates a lack of effectiveness in improving infant feeding, with the strong possibility of an increasing inequalities gap and increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity both in pregnant women and the early years of life. Maternal overweight in pregnancy is an indicator of later overweight in the child and this should be an area of concern. There have been professional leads on maternal and infant nutrition or breastfeeding intermittently over recent years and the appointment of the professional lead on the UNICEF *Baby Friendly Initiative* to work in Scottish Government is to be welcomed.(38) Active play has received impetus from the national *Play Strategy* and reports indicate progress, but difficulty in reaching those in areas of deprivation.

7.4 Summary of progress: Workplace (Pillar 4)

There are 10 APs, of which 4 have reached early stage milestones. There is one where initial work has not continued and another where action was proposed but not taken up. Monitoring is in place for 5 APs and a progress report available on one. No cost information has been made available. Significant activity has taken place within the NHS as an employer, even though reports note that more remains to be done (39). Whilst the ORM has gone some way to raising awareness generally, the lack of prioritisation of issues relating to overweight and obesity in workplaces outside the NHS remains disappointing and may relate to a continued general lack of awareness of the problem. Programmes may also be limited by cost considerations as they often cease after initial external funding. An exception is the apparent willingness to engage in physical activity programmes (walking, cycling or other activities).

7.5 Summary of progress: Generic (unnumbered) actions

The ORM outlined a number of actions which did not transfer into the Action Plan as numbered APs. These include the management and treatment of obesity, changing public attitudes, professional education, supporting local delivery, tracking progress and filling evidence gaps. A joint national leadership group across Scottish Government directorates was to be established and an event to help shape the action plan was to be held. These areas were:

7.5.1 Weight management and treatment

These actions were explicitly not part of the ORM, and are reported separately to Scottish Government.

7.5.2 Awareness and professional education

Mass media campaigns have been carried out on physical activity, as part of the broader *Take Life On* campaign (40,41), and on food. Training programmes on

physical activity and on raising the issue of healthy weight have been developed and run for health professionals.

7.5.3 Local support

The healthy weight outcomes framework was completed in 2011.(42) It was used to identify the ORM indicators however the original intention that the healthy weight outcomes framework could be used to identify gaps in monitoring, evaluation and research and enable performance management did not come to fruition because the JOG did not continue to meet. The Child Healthy Weight Expert Group report (8) revealed very varied local infrastructure; additional review work was undertaken for all age groups and is reported in section 9.2.

7.5.4 Research strategy

The proposed integrated research strategy did not progress. The view was taken that a number of existing research strategies relating to the route map pillars were already in place. The <u>research mapping</u> exercise undertaken for this review is considered further in section 9.1.

7.5.5 National leadership and accountability

It was intended that the JOG would draw together the broad range of interests required to take forward the APs. The Scottish Government Public Health Division was to lead this process, obtaining information from colleagues across government responsible for the policy areas relevant to the APs. The Action Plan was to be updated with progress on a 6 monthly basis in advance of the JOG meetings. The group met 3 times and 2 updates to the Action Plan took place (in 2011and 2012) (20). The aims of the JOG to ensure ministerial level discussion across portfolios remains relevant, however, the mechanism was not successful. This may be as a result of changing ministerial roles and priorities, or because the format of the group reviewed action rather than drove it. Other leadership mechanisms are in place for some of the component areas of the ORM; however, without co-ordination they may not compensate for the JOG. These include:

- The National Strategy Group for Sport and Physical Activity;
- A Food Commission to advise government as the updated National Food and Drink policy has been developed;
- The Scottish Centre for Healthy Working Lives, which provides the infrastructure and monitoring for health at work in Scotland; and
- A national Health Promoting Health Service (HPHS) steering group, which has been set up under the chairmanship of a public health minister to provide oversight of a number of areas including physical activity and the attainment of the HLA by NHS catering services.

The National Performance Framework (NPF)(43) is the mechanism for overall accountability for action across all policy areas. There have been separate accountability mechanisms for individual aspects of the ORM. These include the Implementation Group for *Maternal and Infant Nutrition Framework* (launched in 2011), and *The Early Years Framework* which established a set of indicators for broader early years work. The clearest accountability mechanisms have been where there are national targets e.g. a Single Outcome Agreement (SOA) for community safety and a HEAT target for Child Healthy Weight. A basic set of indicators for adult healthy weight reporting were also developed.

A £3.5million "*Challenging Obesity*" budget was established, which includes the allocation of £2million funding per year to territorial NHS Boards for child healthy weight interventions following the ending of the HEAT target. It also included £1.5million funding per year (2012-15) for healthy weight management, previously contracted to Robert Gordon University (RGU) for the delivery of Counterweight, and central funding for the programme of Healthy Weight Communities. However, now individual NHS Boards will decide how to support healthy weight management. While the majority have continued with Counterweight a number are exploring other options.

7.5.6 Prioritisation event and updated exercise

At the time of the launch of the ORM the Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN) undertook a series of consultation events to prioritise ORM actions and their potential impact on reducing overweight and obesity. The findings were reported in 2010.(7) The exercise was repeated with the SPHOSIG and members of the Child Healthy Weight Expert Group. The session aimed to assess if priorities had shifted and whether emerging priorities could be identified. In broad terms the exercise reaffirmed the likely impact of the areas covered within Supporting Healthy Choices (33) and the importance of walking and cycling. The need for current programmes such as the Health Promoting Health Service and the Healthy Working Lives Award to embed actions on overweight and obesity were seen as having high impact. Public sector exemplars, active travel and addressing health in planning were seen as having medium impact

Areas within the ORM highlighted for strengthening were:

- focus on community development and community cohesion;
- effective social marketing and simple messaging (e.g. waistline measurement); and
- research to focus on the language used in public discourse and risk of stigma.

The last point on use of language became a discussion point as common understanding between participants was lacking.

7.6 Summary of progress: What was left out of the ORM

ORM APs that were seen as low impact tended to focus on initiatives that very much depended on action by individuals, and on actions which whilst they had value in raising public awareness, were unlikely to impact on overweight and obesity in the short or medium term. Actions such as opening up public sector estate and encouraging parents to make up healthy lunch boxes came into this category.

The original prioritisation exercise which underpinned the ORM placed a strong emphasis on integrated action across sectors at all levels. Whilst this was included in the ORM, there are no specific actions in the Action Plan or a mechanism for doing so put in place.

In looking back at the 2010 prioritisation exercise, there were a few items had not been included in the ORM originally, but which came up again as requiring attention:

- a focus on health inequalities;
- setting a (realistic) time scale; and
- alcohol as a factor in overweight and obesity.

In undertaking this review, a number of areas were highlighted for inclusion in a revised / update ORM. These were to include:

- approaches to risk management and treatment;
- a renewed focus on weight management programmes;
- a focus on areas of co-morbidity with overweight and obesity such as type II diabetes and cancers; and
- a clear statement on the necessary balance between food intake and physical activity in intervention, and not just each of these in isolation from each other;
- taking a full life course approach, not just focusing on early years and adults at work.

Details of the 2010 prioritisation exercise can be found at <u>ScotPHN</u>.

8 How comprehensive was the Action Plan?

When compared to the WHO policies(44) and recommended actions in recent reports such as those from the McKinsey Institute(45), the Academy of the Royal Colleges of Medicine (AORCM)(46) and the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland (RCPI)(47), the ORM fares well in terms of its breadth and in specific content. In general the ORM represents a reasonable attempt to implement the Foresight Report recommendations.(13)

8.1 The Action Points: did they form an appropriate mix and balance of actions?

The ANGELO (the **AN**alysis **G**rid for **E**lements Linked to **O**besity) framework (48) is a tool that enables analysis and prioritisation of interventions designed to impact on overweight and obesity and on the obesogenic environment. An assessment of the action points in the ORM against this framework indicates that the actions in the ORM are strong on the micro, more individual actions relating to availability (of interventions and healthy options) and in some of the 'macro' areas such as policy and regulation for schools(49). However there are fewer actions in the macro and micro economic and cultural domains. As it is these domains that are likely to have population effect, it will be important to address this imbalance in any future policy and action plans.

8.2 The Action Points: strengths, weaknesses and gaps

The ORM includes a broad range of actions and is comparable with the approaches taken in other countries. The most successful actions in terms of progress towards milestones were those that were already underway or in development when the Action Plan was launched. These tend to be those which focus on individual behaviour and 'opt in'. Conversely those which have not progressed were those that had not been scoped and had no milestones identified at the time of launch.

8.2.1 Strengths

Areas that are strong in Scotland include the policy framework, which covers all areas of action that can impact on overweight and obesity, however, the degree of coordination, evaluation and performance monitoring is variable, as is leadership. Leadership has been strongest where there are significant national drivers such as the child healthy weight HEAT target and Single Outcome Agreements (SOA) on community safety.

Significant action has taken place in schools, notably the regulatory environment for physical education and nutritional standards. There are also major initiatives such as Active Schools and Community Sports Hubs based on school premises. However, the reach of these activities to those who would benefit most is not clear and can be undermined, (e.g. by fast food outlets around secondary schools).

The NHS has also undertaken a range of actions for patients and staff through the Child Healthy Weight HEAT target, procurement, estates management and the HPHS programmes. However, local intelligence suggests that much remains to be done.

With regards to weight management and treatment a reasonable start has been made, boosted significantly, by the HEAT target and dedicated funding for child and adult weight management, although the programmes vary in type, personnel and target groups across Scotland.

8.2.2 Weaknesses

Without central drive from the JOG, monitoring and evaluation has been left to the lead agencies, many of whom have mechanisms for tracking activity and assessing its reach and impact. However, the amount and quality of both monitoring and evaluation is variable. That there are only a few completed actions and limited evaluation means that it is not possible at this point in time to say which actions merit scaling up. However, actions can be clustered by the different degrees of progress against milestones and some key issues identified.

The Action Plan lists key stakeholders but the extent to which these stakeholders have been assigned specific actions is limited, rather it is their responsibility to identify actions to progress. As the actions were only monitored for a short time, the need to progress from responsible stakeholders to lead agencies or partnerships, with clear actions and accountability built into their respective plans, has not been identified.

System wide and regulatory change that aims to act on the obesogenic environment and achieve population impact has been slower to develop and work has tended to produce guidance rather than action.

It is notable that the strength of support from professionals varies across sectors.

The two major lifestyle issues of diet and physical activity are addressed in the ORM with substantial action proposed, however the potential contribution of other lifestyle issues is not included (e.g. alcohol). The work on diet and physical activity does not always appear to be coordinated for key target groups and tends to operate in separate silos. As a result of this lack of coordination the chances of any one individual or community receiving all the interventions from which they could benefit are low.

Lack of progress, despite action on early years, requires further attention and exploration as does the difficulty in sustaining initiatives in the workplace. This may

reflect wider cultural influences and the need for greater public and professional support for interventions to start and be maintained.

8.2.3 Gaps

The life course approach recommended by the Foresight report (13) is addressed through early years, and for adults through the workplace. This leaves significant gaps in young people and later life.

The inequalities dimension in overweight and obesity shown so starkly in the trends is not addressed by the ORM or the Action Plan, and only in a small number of the reports on the actions themselves. This gap is compounded by the limited focus on the role of communities.

Two areas for action originally envisaged, but not included in the generic actions, on public and professional awareness and an integrated research strategy are significant gaps. These would support and improve other actions.

9 Action, research, reports and policy beyond the ORM – What can we can we learn from elsewhere?

9.1 Current research

There is still a great deal unknown about some mechanisms that contribute to overweight and obesity, such as the role of specific foods, hormones and sleep. However, given the scale of the problem, and the very clear understanding that all underlying mechanisms have led to individual's calorie consumption which exceeds need, existing knowledge is sufficient for effective action. In the absence of an expanded integrated research strategy as originally proposed in the ORM a research mapping exercise was carried out by the Scottish Collaboration for Public Health Research and Policy (SCPHRP). (The full report and appendices can be found on the ScotPHN website.) It aimed for a comprehensive account of recent and current research on obesity in or covering Scotland which would enable an assessment of gaps, potential collaboration and ensure easy access to research information for both researchers and practitioners. The mapping focused on the last 10 years and covered research which looked at and measured weight. 180 studies and 217 publications were assessed. The majority were descriptive or observational and only 47 were intervention studies. Of these the great majority were about weight management. It is significant that most focused on a single lifestyle intervention, whereas the lived experience of individuals and communities is one of multiple interacting factors.

There were very few publications focused on prevention, or on socio-economic deprivation, or on the workplace and the focus was on individual action, rather than regulation or environmental changes. Whilst there is much research on physical activity or diet, it rarely measures weight as an outcome, often assuming that this will happen, this assumption may well be flawed. The mapping exercise also noted that there is also a great deal of local activity which is not linked to formal research or evaluation.

The exercise concluded that there is a buoyant research community with high calibre researchers. However, the lack of collaboration or alignment with policy and practice militates against productive links between research and policy and practice

9.2 Local infrastructure

The Child Healthy Weight report (8) found that the supporting infrastructure for action on child healthy weight is varied across Scotland. A rapid assessment of the situation for healthy weight overall was undertaken with NHS healthy weight leads as part of this review.

All areas have a great deal of activity that could impact on overweight and obesity and several have undertaken detailed mapping exercises. The first NHS Board to have a dedicated strategy for healthy weight is soon to undertake a review, and a further 4 now have a strategy, action plan or strategic framework. 2 have strategies in development, one has a strategy embedded in a wider public heath strategy and 5 have several strategies or plans that cover the areas relevant to weight. The majority of those who described their overall approach, include areas similar to those within the ORM and may have used it or the healthy weight outcomes framework in developing their own plans.

The degree of coordination across the broad range of actions varies greatly. All areas have some degree of joint oversight of food, physical activity and healthy weight work. This is extended in some to cover maternal and infant nutrition and early years. The area that is most likely to be managed and reported separately is workplace health. 4 NHS Boards have a dedicated lead officer (although this is unlikely to be their only role), several have a lead officer who covers most of the areas of work, however, 6 have a number of lead officers for the different strands of work.

Partnership with other agencies is again different across Scotland. A few areas have an overall partnership group which oversees healthy weight, some as part of broader programmes of health improvement or public health. In other areas, there are separate partnership groups for the different strands and mainly occurs in areas where there are several lead officers. Those with an overall strategy sought to engage with local partners outside the NHS, routinely involving leisure services, education, and children's services. It was notable that only one NHS Board links specifically to community planning and one to transport. No NHS Board indicated it had links to physical planning, urban or rural. Only one Board had included patient representation. Action on health inequalities is not well articulated in local plans and a key gap is the lack of involvement of local communities. Those with the longest running strategies noted that although they started out with a broad partnership, this tended to drop off over time, possibly as a result of the focus on NHS-led services.

Given the differences in the approach to strategies and their management it is unsurprising that the way in which work is reported varies greatly between NHS Boards. Where there is a named lead for what is generally called healthy weight, this officer receives reports on all the relevant actions. Such officers have different levels of seniority and their reporting may go to their Director of Public Health or NHS Board Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Three NHS Board areas have mechanisms for joint reporting to both NHS Board and Local Authority; this is more marked in areas of co-terminosity or where integration is more advanced. In others there are lead officers for specific strands which report through individual directorates within a NHS Board. In 4 areas there is no single reporting stream and others note that overall reporting is unclear. Accountability is largely seen as being through the NHS, apart from the 3 areas that have joint reporting mechanisms. The area within healthy weight with the clearest management and governance is Child Healthy Weight as a result of there being a HEAT target, where accountability is to the CEO of the NHS Board. A number of NHS Boards noted that the balance of work had been skewed by the HEAT target, to the disadvantage of either broader prevention work or treatment of overweight or both.

9.3 Non-ORM Action in Scotland

The initial stock take of the ORM and the research mapping exercise have serendipitously indicated a significant number of both national and local initiatives which have taken place alongside the ORM actions. Those that have been the subject of research were captured by the research mapping exercise (section 9.1) and the associated report will have captured interventions based in or researched in Scotland. Many projects focus on healthy eating or physical activity separately and may not mention energy consumption or expenditure or have weight maintenance or reduction as an outcome. There is much going on that is not routinely captured at a national level. However, there is clearly considerable commitment to improving healthy eating and increasing physical activity. Some elements of activity may be communicated through professional networks, but not necessarily between The use of improvement methodology where there is already good networks. evidence for action is encouraging. However, the extent of impact on weight or cost effectiveness of interventions is not clear and the implementation of the research strategy originally proposed in the ORM could help in bridging this research and policy and practice gap.

9.4 International policy

WHO Europe declared obesity as an epidemic in 2014(50) which called for action on prevention, risk management and developing evidence as is reflected in the ORM.

WHO International has developed a global action plan for Prevention and Control of Non Communicable Diseases 2013-20(44) which includes reduction of obesity as one of its 9 action areas. Again this Action Plan covers many areas within the ORM (see <u>appendix 4</u>, parts 1 - 4). Alongside reductions in blood glucose levels and the prevalence of diabetes, the global framework sets measures of overweight and obesity in adolescents as a key indicator. It sets targets of a zero increase reinforcing an earlier commitment to a zero increase in children. These apparently modest targets may well be realistic in a situation where no whole country has achieved such stabilisation, let alone a decrease in prevalence. A broad range of countries are adopting similar measures to those in the ORM.

WHO has long adopted a 'health in all policies' approach and highlighted recent work in a Finnish city(51) which has been successful in reducing prevalence of overweight in children with child healthy weight using this approach. The *Ensemble*, *Prevenons l'Obesite des Enfants* (Epode) programme has taken a community approach and a Scottish programme based on it showed marginal impact.(52) Other countries using a health in all policies approach are South Australia and South Africa.(53) In view of the national outcomes approach in Scotland it may be helpful to look at not only the relevance of health in all policies, but also how policies can interact and support each other.

In 2014 WHO international set up a Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity and in 2015 published a nutrient profile model to assist in tackling food advertising to children. (54), (55), (56)

9.5 UK policy

All other home nations have, and are currently reviewing, programmes of action that are broadly similar to Scotland's ORM. The trend across all 4 countries is similar although Scotland has a higher prevalence of overweight and obesity. Recent statistics from Public Health England (PHE)(57) show a similar pattern to Scotland of a strong relationship between childhood weight and socio-economic status, with greater prevalence of obesity in deprived groups, and a wider issue of poor growth overall.

The broad English strategy Healthy Lives Healthy People (58) dates from 2011. In 2014 PHE and NHS England set out their intentions and a programme of action to support early and preventative approaches to tackle the lifestyle risk factors associated with non-communicable diseases, including type II diabetes.(59),(60) Since then, the Health Select Committee has conducted an inquiry into the impact of diet and physical activity on health and more recently an inquiry into childhood obesity.(61),(62) Obesity services in England are commissioned locally, mainly through local authorities and clinical commissioning groups, based on local need and priorities as agreed by Health and Wellbeing Boards. The Government response to the Health Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of diet and physical activity on health and Wellbeing Boards. The Government response to the Health Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of diet and physical activity on health and Wellbeing Boards. The Government response to the Health Select Committee Inquiry into the impact of diet and physical activity on health provides an overview of the current and planned programmes of work to support national and local action to tackle obesity.(63)

Wales has an obesity pathway from prevention through to treatment and has set a target of no increase in overweight and obesity in children at school entry age. A key initiative in Wales, as yet unevaluated, has a focus on obesity, and is not found elsewhere:

• the Active Travel Act (Wales) (2013)(64)which places duties on central and local government to develop and report on active travel plans.

Northern Ireland's obesity prevention framework, *A Fitter Future for All 2012-2022* (65), was recently reviewed and updated for the period 2015-2019. Key actions include a broad public information campaign, *Choose to Live Better* (2013)(66), and 2 distinct initiatives:

• a public campaign to encourage people to measure their waist circumference and take action; and

 a workplace weight loss challenge scheme raising funds for charity (£ for Lb).(67)

In summary, the breadth of action in the ORM is replicated elsewhere. No country has achieved a decrease in prevalence. Some city or community based actions look promising. In taking forward the next steps in Scotland, it will be important to learn from evidence and practice elsewhere and to consider broadening the strategy to include weight management and treatment. Of particular note are the 'health in all **polices'** approach and the current WHO working group on childhood obesity.

10 What more is now needed?

It is clear from the previous sections that significant work has been undertaken to address overweight and obesity, in response and in addition to the ORM. However, despite the apparent levelling off of the prevalence of overweight and obesity in some age groups, the underlying trend remains upwards. Recent analysis (68) indicates that obesity may be rising in more affluent men. It may be that without the ORM Action Plan, the situation would have been worse.

The current situation has major implications for individual health, for the burden on the NHS and the wider economy, including some key areas for concern:

- the continuing rise in type II diabetes with onset occurring at increasingly young ages;
- the contribution of overweight and obesity to cardio-vascular disease and some cancers;
- the rise in overweight and obesity in children from Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD) 1 & 2;
- the probable increase in maternal overweight and obesity linked to socioeconomic status; and
- the early indications of an intergenerational effect.

The actions in the ORM reflect the research of the time. The review of current research that was undertaken for this report indicates that the ORM remains consistent with current research, albeit with the need to respond to some areas of strengthened evidence. Therefore, how should the ORM now be developed and progressed? Do we need more of the same or should the gaps and least successful actions in the ORM be addressed? What would make existing work more effective?

There have been a number of key reports and guidance published which fell outside the remit or time frame for the literature review for this appraisal and these will be considered in this discussion. These include reports from the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) (69), the Academy of the Royal Colleges of Medicine (AORCM) (46) and the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland (RCPI)(47) and the McKinsey Institute (45). A recent Lancet series on obesity with a focus on food was published early in 2015(26),(53),(70),(71),(72),(73) and reference is also made to a further two sets of guidance from NICE.(74),(75) In addition, the opportunity was taken to interview members of the SPHOSIG and experts in the field they recommended, to gain some insight into current thinking, as part of this review.

10.1 The evolving nature of the problem

The prevalence and increasing rate of overweight and obesity in the Scottish population, has led to it being commonly described as an 'epidemic', this is in line with the WHO statement on the obesity epidemic in Europe.(50) The response to an epidemic is 3 fold: to work to prevent further development; to manage those at risk;

and to treat those affected. At present coordination of work across prevention, weight management and treatment only exists in Scotland in a small number of areas where there are shared health and well-being aims between NHS Boards and Local Authorities. Further work is required nationally and locally so that effort in all 3 areas can be balanced for effective control.

10.2 Is the current ORM able to deliver change?

In seeking an answer to this question, we must consider the pillars and generic actions in the ORM within the wider framework: lifestyle; life course; sectors and settings; environment, community and inequality; awareness and understanding; infrastructure; and research and development.

10.2.1 Lifestyle

10.2.1.1 Lifestyle: food – energy consumption

Despite robust policy in the *Diet Action Plan* (76) for over 20 years, progress towards the Scottish dietary goals has been minimal and requires greater action. Working with the food system is very challenging. Many of the areas identified for action on food and drink in the research and guidance are addressed within *Supporting Healthy Choices (SHC)*. However, considerable effort and investment will be required if this voluntary framework is to have effect or indeed point the way forward towards regulatory controls. Formal review of SHC is essential to enable effective action on areas such as:

- limiting marketing of energy dense foods and drink;(26),(53)
- reducing intake of sweetened drinks;(73),(75)
- tackling large portion sizes of energy dense foods and drinks; (45),(53)
- ensuring that reformulation efforts make a significant contribution to reduced energy intake;(70) calorie information, particularly in out of home settings;(45) and
- nutritional food labelling. Although food labelling appears only to impact on those who already have healthy preferences, or higher levels of education and affluence, the requirement for labelling does appear to impact more widely on the food industry and lead to reformulation.(45),(53),(70)

There is considerable support in the literature for more comprehensive regulation e.g. taxation of and/or removing subsidies on less healthy foods and subsidising healthier ones (see also 10.2.6.5: regulation). The Lancet series identifies 4 actions: the learning of healthy preferences; the removal of barriers to following through on healthy preferences; influencing the 'choice architecture' at point of purchase; and looking at the whole food system.(53) Mapping food systems using a locality approach is seen as a helpful way forward and 2 useful frameworks are identified, the *NOURISHING* framework developed by the World Cancer Research Fund International and the Access to Nutrition framework which rates food manufacturers on their commitments and performance. (77),(78) McKinsey notes the complexity of

working with the food industry. For example, the risk to the first company to make a change and suggests using the marketing expertise of the food industry to promote healthier foods. In summary, significant action is required across the whole food system.

10.2.1.2 Lifestyle: physical activity – energy expenditure

It is positive that the latest SHeS indicates small increases in physical activity. This may be the result of many factors including the recent Commonwealth Games. However, the gain is small, and whilst it may be an initial momentum on which actions can build, the gain in physical activity has not led to sufficient increases among the pre-obese and obese. Walking, which is easy to maintain throughout the life course, is the activity that most people can be encouraged to do alongside domestic and workplace activity. The recent walking strategy *Let's Get Scotland Walking* should be included in future action on obesity. There are many health benefits from greater support for walking, cycling and active travel, but new initiatives are needed, targeted specifically for prevention of weight gain (and regain). These initiatives will require environmental changes in transport and planning, including easy access to community facilities, and open and green space.(79) Given the current level of investment in sport, and that which may be required to get inactive people active, consideration needs to be given to how cultural and behavioural change initiatives are resourced.

10.2.1.3 Lifestyle: other issues

The evidence for television viewing as an independent risk factor for weight gain has been documented.(75) The evidence of impact of sedentary behaviour on its own on metabolic risk is growing but there is little evidence as yet to support this as a risk factor (independent to physical activity) for weight gain. Increasing physical activity remains a key message in achieving energy balance. In addition (but not in place of), efforts should be made to decrease sedentary time.

The Lancet series and RCPI both note the links and interaction between mental health and obesity. The McKinsey report draws attention to the links between overweight and obesity and self-esteem and educational attainment.(26),(45),(47)

The RCPI is of the view that alcohol labelling should include information on calories and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance includes taking action on alcohol consumption.(44),(45),(75)

The importance of sleep in preventing overweight and obesity in children is noted by NICE(75) and is an emerging area of research.

10.2.1.4 Lifestyle: key points

The two key areas of physical activity and diet are ORM 'pillars', however, actions would be more effective through better coordination for communities and individuals.

Interventions that lead to an increase in physical activity are at an early stage. Work across the food system has been slow and challenging to progress. Both require continued investment and consideration of regulation.

There seems to be an underlying assumption within the ORM that tackling diet and physical activity separately will lead to healthier weight across the population. However, as the research mapping exercise suggests, this assumption is flawed. If both are to have an effective role to play in managing weight and preventing overweight and obesity, this must be done in concert with the intent of achieving these outcomes and not presuming they will be a by-product of interventions for general health gain.

Other lifestyle factors which may be associated with the development of overweight and obesity (e.g. social and economic factors) should also be considered in the ORM.

10.2.2 Life course

10.2.2.1 Life course: early years

The prevalence of maternal obesity is critical and there are early indications of an intergenerational effect (27). Maternal obesity it is a better predictor of being overweight or obese in later life, than weight at birth or in infancy. The risks attached to overweight in pregnancy are not generally known and there needs to be a greater public understanding of the importance of antenatal and pre-conception periods. Amongst other benefits to health, breastfeeding appears protective against obesity. (80)

The Lancet series (26),(53),(70),(71),(72),(73) focuses on obesity in childhood and notes the rapid increase worldwide. It also notes that in developed countries, where the rate of increase appears to be levelling, the prevalence is high. It further identifies the need for healthy growth and explores the relationship between obesity and growth retardation of children through poor diet, noting the existence of this in disadvantaged children in England. The series notes the impact of the WHO code on breast milk substitutes and suggests something similar is needed for food in childhood.(26)

The way in which food is marketed is of concern across the reports; the Lancet series prioritises action to prevent marketing unhealthy foods to children. Attention is drawn to the marketing of *High Fat Salt and Sugar* (HFSS) foods to children, in particular of soft drinks, for which there are strong links with weight gain. This

concern is shared by the public (RCPCH).(81) A new profiling tool from WHO is available to enable assessment of marketing activity (55) and the RCPI recommends the use of the Sydney Principles in tackling marketing to children.(47)

The Lancet series further proposes that multiple strategies are needed to establish nutritional security in childhood. Other recommended approaches are to support new parents (including cooking skills); a whole family approach (eating as a family); increasing breast feeding; improving weaning practice; and active play.(26)

Going forwards the ORM should promote links between the Maternal Health and Early Years collaboratives and the recently set up WHO working group on obesity in childhood and its associated tools.

10.2.2.2 Life course: young people

The lack of a focus on young people is a major gap in the ORM, as the most rapid weight gain, converting people from overweight into obesity, occurs among young people (between ages 15-25).(82) This is has been a hard-to-reach group, but recent evidence in Scotland (77),(83),(84), highlights the potential for working with young people, particularly as they make the transition to adulthood. The Lancet series suggests there is evidence to suggest that taxation and subsidy have most effect on young people, and that youth advocacy is potentially important in leading to community action.(71),(73) Experts saw attitudes and motivation as key (*why bovver?*) noting that overweight and obesity are strongly linked to self-esteem and academic achievement.(45),(47)

10.2.2.3 Life course: adults

The ORM addresses overweight and obesity in adults through workplace activity, thus missing certain population groups e.g. those not in employment. The *Football Fans in Training* project is of note.(85) This Scottish trial has been shown to achieve and maintain significant weight loss in men over a 12 month period. The intervention uses the offer of training with football clubs to their overweight and obese male fans and was successful in increasing activity, improving healthy eating and reducing weight. Appealing to the key interests of the target group may have been critical to its success. The Lancet series also refers to framing overweight to make it pertinent to a target group.(71) The programme could be expanded to fulfill its potential and to other sports where appropriate.

10.2.2.4 Life course: later life

Given the implications of overweight and obesity for a range of health conditions in later life, this gap in the ORM should be addressed. There is a need for design of

housing and public buildings and spaces to consider the needs of older people and how to support activity in later life.

10.2.2.5 Life course: key points:

- The Foresight Report stressed a whole life course perspective. The ORM focused on early years and adults at work. It remains relevant to prioritise early years particularly as the formation of food preferences, eating and activity habits and weight throughout life is heavily influenced in the earliest years of life and by parental weight. However, young people and later life are critical gaps in the ORM.
- Football Fans in Training has shown what can be achieved by framing weight loss in ways relevant to the target group.

10.2.3 Sectors and settings

10.2.3.1 Sectors and settings: the NHS

The NHS has key roles across all of prevention, risk management and treatment. Overweight and obesity are long term, relapsing conditions, with many associated co-morbidities. Although risk management and treatment are out with the scope of this review, if the epidemic is to be addressed then consideration should be given to setting up a national programme of weight management and treatment over and above the current local programmes. Several reports draw comparisons with work on tobacco, in terms of need to build weight management programmes into health services like smoking cessation.(46),(69),(71) Weight management within services where overweight and obesity are significant risk factors such as type II diabetes and pregnancy is a key area for development. The RCP specifically recommends integration of weight management services with diabetic services.(69) The current Diabetes Improvement Plan only recommends that clinicians make onward referral to weight management.(86)

There is scope to improve prevention and referrals to weight management through primary care.(69) Primary care in England can directly refer to commercial weight loss programmes, this is supported by NICE (74). Supported by the Royal College reports (47),(69) better use could be made of routine contacts and the teachable moment to raise the issue and give brief advice, and interventions and refer on. There is a role for other services beside primary care such as screening services as has been demonstrated by the BeWEL and ActWell research projects and family planning.(87),(88) NICE supports the existing guidance for primary care on PA and healthy eating and encouraging the use of self-monitoring.(75) Experts also suggest testing out ways of raising the issue - tape measures for waist circumference, shaded BMI charts to indicate risk, the provision of pedometers to encourage walking and use of self-monitoring.(89)

Obesity prevalence is notable amongst NHS staff. This has an impact on sick-leave and productivity within the NHS, but also sends a message to the public that obesity cannot matter much. However well trained such staff are, their credibility as advisors to patients or the general public on obesity prevention is undermined if they are overweight or obese. Further action to support staff to manage their weight is required. This may be best stimulated through 'bottom-up' local initiatives and any weight management schemes for staff should be in line with NICE guidance CG 43. (90)

The NHS therefore has the potential to lead by example. Areas for action include the development of Health Promoting Health Service to include overweight and obesity alongside the continued work on the selling of healthy food in franchises and reception areas, and encouraging staff initiated action on overweight and obesity such as encouraging weight awareness, using the teachable moment, through procurement, the provision of healthy options, food standards in hospital, and food labelling.

10.2.3.2 Sectors and settings: education sector

Children and young people in Scotland have benefited from a range of major initiatives in schools: the Schools (Health Promotion and Nutrition) (Scotland) Act 2007; the time requirement for PE; the *Active Schools* programme; and Community Sports Hubs. These are in addition to the health and well-being part of the *Curriculum for Excellence*. Formal evaluation of the impact of such initiatives, in addition to current monitoring, is essential to ensure that all who can benefit do so. This is especially so for those in areas of deprivation or otherwise disadvantaged. This is a key strength in Scotland which should be built on, to ensure that the gains are not undermined- for example by the easy availability of energy dense, high fat, salt and sugar food in the area around a school.

Half of the young people in Scotland attend further and higher education and developing work in this sector could reach them at a time when adult lifestyle patterns are developing.

Successive reports (26),(45),(46),(47),(70) are supportive of actions that link education through the curriculum, including the impact of obesity on fertility and pregnancy, with the use of the wider school environment. The Child Healthy Weight (CHW) HEAT target work in schools had a small positive effect(8) which could be amplified by the work on media literacy and the food industry in the curriculum and the use of improvement methodology in schools by pupils themselves.

10.2.3.3 Sectors and settings: workplaces

Initiatives in the workplace have not taken root although they are significant in other countries and a broad range of actions are recommended in the McKinsey report. (45) They may be significant if obesity is indeed increasing in more affluent men. (68) Programmes tackling weight directly have failed to take off, those on physical activity have been welcomed, but not survived short term funding. This may reflect a lack of value within workplaces, which may in turn reflect the wider culture. Workplace challenges such as Paths for All's workplace step count and Ireland's '£ for Lb' do however seem to be popular and growing.

10.2.3.4 Sectors and settings: public sector exemplars

Many of the recommendations for the NHS in the medical college reports could be extended to the wider public sector. The role that the public sector can play as exemplar employers is important, not just for the employees concerned and their families, but for the impact on wider understanding and awareness. Examples would be recognising prevalence of obesity in employees and using opportunities for social marketing and exploring the options available for food and activity, including subsidies

10.2.3.5 Sectors and settings: key points:

- Although the ORM has a number of actions for the NHS and education sectors, only workplaces are addressed as a major 'pillar'.
- The area where action has been most embedded is within schools, this would however benefit from evaluation of impact.
- A broad range of action is taking place within the NHS, however, more remains to be done, and there are aspects which could be expanded across the public sector.
- Action in workplaces has failed to take root.

10.2.4 Environment, communities and inequalities

The Foresight and subsequent reports support the concept of the obesogenic environment as developed by Swinburn (48) in which overweight and obesity will increase to reach a plateau for any given environment. It is further noted that an environment that is less obesogenic is also good for climate change.(73),(74) Whilst maintaining individually based action remains important, the balance of action on prevention needs to wholeheartedly embrace action on the obesogenic environment to make it more 'leptogenic' and have wider population impact. This has been slow to develop and may reflect its difficulty and the investment of time and resources required. In moving forward it will therefore be important to develop and maintain such work recognising its long term nature. The absence of links between public health and planning is striking and as can be seen in *Good Places, Better Health*

(GPBH) and the development of the Place Standard, will be essential if environmental issues are to be addressed.

The Lancet sees the external environment as a key mediator of lifestyle and draws on the limited evidence to suggest that community based interventions for childhood obesity are likely to produce health gain and savings to health services and society.(53) This is further supported by NICE (54) which focuses on the importance of community engagement and the need for the involvement of the public and local business and enterprises using community development approaches.

The complex obesogenic environmental issues may simply take longer to address than individual behaviour related programmes, however this can have an effect which may partly explain the current patterns, as it is those with more resources (education, time, money) who are most likely to respond to behaviour related programmes and so create or increase an inequalities gap in health outcomes. Environmental changes impact on all, but are critical for those with less freedom to act as a result of inequalities. Individual responsibility and behaviour change remains important, however it is critical that any initiatives with this focus are managed to minimise the risk of increasing the inequalities gap.

The links to inequalities have emerged more strongly since the Foresight report and the indications are that they may be increasing, particularly in children. The need for community and social cohesion was identified in the prioritisation exercise. Such city and community (e.g. action in Finland and the Epode study) based approaches suggest that looking at the whole system in defined localities may be productive. The work of GPBH and the subsequent Place Standard are relevant here and the recent emphasis in Scotland on assets based approaches and co-production with communities and individuals offers a way forward in the medium term.

Whilst the 4 'pillars' of food, physical activity, early years and workplace remain important, unless environmental issues and the underlying inequalities are addressed, targeting of programmes to ensure they reach those most likely to be affected would need to be sustained indefinitely.

As in all epidemics it is the poor and vulnerable who most are at risk and suffer most. This gap in the ORM needs to be rectified whilst recognising that overweight and obesity are not alone as health issues in areas of disadvantage and should form part of wider inequalities work such as that recommended in the Report of the Ministerial Task Force on Health Inequalities (91) and the outcome of the Community Empowerment and Renewal Bill.(92) Shifting to a more inequalities focused approach where the lifestyle factors, all life stages and sectors within a locality may enable those most at risk to receive more of the interventions from which they could benefit.

10.2.4.1 Environment, communities and inequalities: key points:

- Inequalities and community action are critical gaps in the ORM, future action on overweight and obesity is likely to benefit from broader inequalities work and community and place based approaches
- Action on the obesogenic environment is also critical but has been slow to develop and will require sustained work

10.2.5 Awareness and understanding

Our concept of what is normal has shifted and the need for cultural change is apparent.(93) The analysis using the ANGELO framework (46) suggests that there are significant gaps in action on the cultural domain. Although some mass media work has taken place it has focused on food or physical activity and not specifically on weight. On its own this mass media work may be ineffective and could increase inequalities, however it is an important ingredient in shifting cultural awareness. (71),(94)

The Lancet series (73) notes the current ineffectiveness of civil society action, partly because consumer power is constrained by the way in which industry shapes food preferences. For policies to be successful they need public engagement in stimulating their development and their implementation. Public health is seen as having an advocacy role and in creating coalitions of a broad range of organisations that have a shared goal. Several reports(46),(69),(71) draw comparisons with work on tobacco, and the value of advocacy groups like ASH, and of international agreements like the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control.(95) The SCOT (Scottish Coalition on Tobacco) is a relevant example here, hosted by ASH Scotland it draws together key third sector organisation and medical royal colleges. The new Obesity Action Scotland based at the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow may have a role to play here. Greater public engagement and awareness should increase support for change- critical for change in the food industry.

How healthy eating, physical activity and healthy weight are understood is very variable, although recent work on physical activity in Scotland (96),(97) and on waist measurement in Northern Ireland has some useful indications (98). The Lancet series (71) proposes research to understand social norms and attitudes, so that obesity can be framed in a more meaningful way to key groups. The prioritisation exercise raised the question of the language used and general lack of understanding. Prior to any public messaging a stock take of our current knowledge would be helpful. What do different people and groups of people understand by weight, overweight, obesity, eating better, eating for health, free sugars and energy balance? The language used can be too victim blaming, too medical and disease orientated. BMI is a complex concept; in working with individuals and in public communication clarity is needed on the use of BMI, weight, and waist circumference. Much simpler information is needed and RCPI suggest the use of celebrities e.g. sports personalities to increase awareness. (47)

School based education remains essential in provision of basic information. Healthy eating and physical activity are both covered in the Curriculum for Excellence, however it is not clear that the balance between them and their role in overweight and obesity is addressed. Whilst antenatal education is important in addressing healthy weight in pregnancy, this is too late. Such education may be best placed in late adolescence along with the importance of other health behaviours prior to and during pregnancy and there is a role for Education Scotland to explore this.

The need for professional education to enable more staff to raise the issues and refer on comes across strongly and RCP give 10 facts that all health professionals should know.(69) The Lancet series (72) goes further and notes studies have shown health professionals to demonstrate bias with respect to obese patients and be less likely to intervene. This is compounded by obese patients who, expecting stigma, delay seeking help. The evaluation of the CHW programme revealed instances of children referred as overweight but actually being seriously obese.(8) Achieving a common understanding across sectors and professionals (NHS, education catering and hospitality) is something which could be built into training programmes using a common core of skills and knowledge. Sharing of evidence and practice could benefit from exploring the potential for future collaboration of existing networks which are often based around single issues. Major conferences have been shown to be effective in increasing both awareness and accountability.(73) This should be undertaken, for example by planning a series of ministerially led events across the time span of the strategy to report progress and respond to continuing challenges to effective action.

10.2.5.1 Awareness and understanding: key points

- These areas have had limited progress.
- There is a need for greater advocacy of the issues around overweight and obesity. Professional knowledge is vital, not just for work with individuals but for wider public awareness, which is essential if future action is to be supported.
- Schools based education remains important and should be reviewed.

10.2.6 Infrastructure

10.2.6.1 Infrastructure: coordination

The 4 pillars of the ORM remain important however in practice the actions are often delivered in isolation by agencies and sectors responsible for one or the other. The extent to which actions are coordinated in order to achieve impact for individuals, communities or whole populations is variable. It is entirely possible that the extent of the interventions is such that with the exception of schoolchildren, any one person or

community is unlikely to receive all the interventions from which they could benefit. Coordination needs to be improved and, in view of the trends, working with areas of deprivation should be a key focus.

10.2.6.2 Infrastructure: leadership

The ORM identified 'key stakeholders' but does not identify lead bodies or individuals or specific responsibilities for action. A few years on there is a need to raise the question of **how** a range of agencies can progress a number of actions and the support required to enable them do so. The current situation could be described as having a general drift toward the actions and aims in the ORM, but requiring greater strategic focus locally and nationally if it is to be more effective.

The RCP, NICE, Lancet series and McKinsey all stress the need for leadership at local and national levels, particularly for public health in developing advocacy and a "sustained and coordinated infrastructure with resources to build collaborations across diverse sectors".(45),(69),(71), (73),(74) According to NICE such leadership requires support through champions and networks with senior staff acting as local coordinators.(74)

Given the epidemic nature of the problem, the Directors of Public Health have critical role in working across NHS Boards, Community Planning Partnerships and Integrated Joint Boards. In assessing the local systems the leadership and infrastructure for delivery is varied across the country and would benefit from further consideration. There is a great deal local areas could learn from each other in terms of coordination, partnership and accountability.

Regrettably despite clear intentions the national infrastructure did not continue after 2010 and leaves a critical gap. The aim of increasing coordination between Ministries and across Scottish Government departments remains valid, however the mechanism itself may not have been appropriate The large number of government departments and agencies involved is noted by McKinsey and RCP, the latter proposing that there should be a specialist role for obesity and one person in government identified to work across all relevant departments.(45),(69)

10.2.6.3 Infrastructure: accountability

The Lancet series (70),(71) stresses on the need to go beyond existing actions on responsibility and focus on accountability, proposing a 4 step framework and noting that current voluntary agreements do not demonstrate the quality of true partnerships, where there is a clear understanding of who is accountable for what. Examples from Mexico and Brazil are used to illustrate the potential ways in which accountability can be increased through transparent processes, national action plans, high profile conferences and regulatory measures.

Currently national accountability on complex issues can be unclear, due to the range of policies involved and their differing evaluation, monitoring and reporting. Despite initial attempts at establishing broad partnerships locally, accountability remains with the NHS, and within the NHS the different strands of action often report separately, reducing the likelihood of coordination and effectiveness.

Whilst many of the action points have well-articulated milestones and identified stakeholders, they would benefit from a stronger outcome focus, and clearer identification of responsibility to increase accountability and effective reporting.

10.2.6.4 Infrastructure: policy

The policy framework in Scotland is strong, In general, those polices which could be expected to have an impact in a short time frame, do recognise their potential impact on weight however others which may affect underlying factors or upstream determinants of health do not always do so. Non health policies do not always articulate or recognise their health impact whether positive or negative. The implication of this is that those in the many different government departments responsible for their development and implementation may not see the links, value them or seek to address them. When seeking to progress action on a complex problem like overweight and obesity, this lack of recognition is likely to get in the way of coordination of effort and undermine the need for the partnership action required. Policy development could benefit from early identification of shared outcomes and indicators such that the effect of actions can be maximised, duplication and potential conflicts reduced and a stronger sense of working together on complex issues developed. Although different types of policy will require different reporting the variability is such that assessing effective action on a complex problem like overweight and obesity is difficult. Without consistent reporting it remains likely that there will be:

- inadequate translation of the existing policies into sustainable strategies and effective implementation; and
- a continuation of policies whose outcomes have unintended outcomes that result in continued or increased calorie consumption or continued or increased inactivity.

This review undertook a brief assessment of policy in Scotland. An audit of all current EU, UK, Scottish and local government policies would be valuable in establishing effective implementation and review.

10.2.6.5 Infrastructure: regulation and legislation

Using the ANGELO framework suggests that system wide interventions should receive greater emphasis and that there are significant gaps in action on the

economic domain. The Lancet (53) notes the inadequacy of industry regulation: "a major concern with industry regulation is the failure of these efforts to be sufficiently comprehensive in scope, rigorous in the nutritional criteria, or adequate in their enforcement and sanctions". The introduction of a sugar tax is well supported by the Royal College and McKinsey reports (45),(46) with RCPI suggesting that this is best balanced with subsidy of healthy food.(47) An overview of taxation of key foods has recently been taken by WHO (56), which indicates that whilst there have yet to be conclusive evaluations, the indicators for such changes are good in several countries. New York City is cited as having the most comprehensive regulatory approach.(53),(70),(73)

In addition to action that can be undertaken in Scotland, UK and EU policy impact on overweight and obesity in Scotland and continued joint work is required to influence their future development.

10.2.6.6 Infrastructure: funding

The current and future burden of disease that results from this epidemic is significant, to the individuals concerned and their families, but also in the costs to society in health care and lost productivity. In comparison to the cost of treatment of obesity related conditions to the NHS the current dedicated funding is small and often short term. Budgetary responsibility is a key impetus for focused action, along with central drivers. A number of both ORM actions that have not progressed and new actions are likely to require additional funding (e.g. an integrated research strategy or implementation of the Place Standard). Review is also needed of the significant funding that is currently attached to areas such as diabetes and sport and the contribution made to prevention and weight management.

10.2.6.7 Infrastructure: key points

- Overweight and obesity are complex problems influenced by many factors. In this situation effectiveness of action will be undermined without strong leadership to drive action through accountability (including financial accountability) and coordination of effort to reach those who stand to benefit.
- Whilst the policy environment is strong, lack of shared development and indicators mitigate against effective action on complex problems. An audit of policy and its associated funding would be beneficial. There is considerable support for regulation.

10.2.7 Knowledge for action

10.2.7.1 Knowledge for action: research

Whilst our understanding of the natural history of obesity through the life course and the role of specific nutrients, hormones and sleep is limited, waiting for greater understanding is not an option, given the current prevalence of overweight and obesity. The research mapping exercise revealed a vibrant research community, but with little research on prevention, environment, regulation or key target groups and inequalities. There is very little on cost effectiveness, limited research that has a focus on weight as an outcome or indeed the long term impact on obesity related conditions. Research in Scotland would therefore benefit from the more strategic approach intended in the ORM. Critically this could encourage research collaboration on environmental interventions which can reach large segments of the population as well as lifestyle ones. 'Realistic research' which closes the gap between evidence gathering and practice is particularly needed to enable the swifter translation of evidence into practice and scaling up of effective action. A greater emphasis on key groups such pregnant women and the most economically disadvantaged communities is essential. Such a research strategy is necessary to move forwards from the current situation in which we have limited evidence for effective prevention and are unable to recommend what should be scaled up.

10.2.7.2 Knowledge for action: development

The slow development of new work indicates the need for greater support. It could be suggested that barring major unexpected changes, work that is in progress can be expected to continue, but that which is newly proposed needs a supporting infrastructure to engage the stakeholders, identify lead agencies and partnerships and ensure actions are developed and built into future plans. Identifying barriers to progress at an early stage could minimise wasted effort and make links to existing initiatives, for example the early years and maternity collaboratives with their use of improvement methodology should be made.

10.2.7.3 Knowledge for action: monitoring

Are we measuring the right things? BMI on its own has been tracked, not just in Scotland, but in many other countries and therefore is likely to retain value as a comparator over time. However the limitations in its inability to distinguish variation in fat and in muscle mass means that at population level it can be misleading in assessing prevalence of risk and also in communication with the public. A review of the use of measurements and their fitness for purpose including communication would be useful.

A considerable amount of relevant data is collected and reported in Scotland, however its use could be improved, by filling gaps, linking data sets and illustrating trends. For instance the ScotPHO epidemiological briefing on obesity could be regularly updated and local information could be made available to support local action. There is a gap in data on young people and children after school entry.

The measurement of height and weight at P7/SI could be re-introduced and the sampling for the SHeS reviewed to enable a greater breakdown of prevalence and trends in children and young people. Data on inequalities is more often collected than reported, given the trends in overweight and obesity this should be addressed.

10.2.7.4 Knowledge for action: evaluation

The variety of approaches used to report the broad range of work on complex problems like obesity make evaluation difficult. A shared framework, linked to the National Performance Framework (43) and its indicators has the potential to support cross sector collaboration and effective use of resources. The current healthy weight outcomes framework (42) would benefit from regular updates and negotiation across the sectors to encourage coordinated action. The strength of current evaluations such as that for the Active legacy for the Commonwealth Games should be built on.

10.2.7.5 Knowledge for action: key points

- The strong, but disparate research community would benefit from an integrated strategy with a clear focus on research into practice and policy.
- New initiatives aimed at complex problems like overweight and obesity would benefit from support, especially at the outset.
- The National Performance Framework and the Healthy Weight Outcomes framework are key strengths to build on to ensure effective monitoring and evaluation of action on overweight and obesity.

10.3 What more is now needed: summary

The actions in the ORM which have been most successful in achieving their milestones have tended to have 2 key characteristics:

- they were already in place or under development: and
- they were focused on individual behaviours and opting in.

Those that have failed or taken longer to progress have been those which were either new ideas or were looking at structural or environmental issues. This raises the question of whether such structural changes inevitably take longer, or whether it is easier to take forward the 'opt in' interventions and effort is put into these at the expense of the harder, but possibly more wide reaching actions. Where to focus? There is an extent to which it all matters. For example, providing healthy choices is unlikely to impact on weight in the short term, but an award scheme that raises the profile of healthy options contributes to the increase in general awareness. Future strategy may be more likely to be effective if there is an increased emphasis on actions that could be expected to impact directly on weight in the shorter term.

In looking at cost effectiveness the McKinsey report (45) suggests that all interventions looked at so far are likely to be cost effective - late stage intervention is costly. If it all matters, and a lot is happening, but making little difference, then strengthened leadership taking a coordinated and strategic approach locally and nationally is critical.

The aims of the ORM are general and non-specific and would benefit from greater focus. In view of the time it takes for important structural, environmental and regulatory changes any future strategy in Scotland should take a long term view. This is recognised in the ORM, but a time span was not set. A 10-20 year time frame with aims similar to those proposed by WHO of achieving no further increase in overweight and obesity by 2025, may be relevant to Scotland, especially if the aim is to achieve this across all ages, genders and socioeconomic groups.

There is value in focusing on actions that have a degree of 'traction' with the public, professionals **and** politicians, as they are more likely to be taken up and supported. It is suggested that the broad range of action should continue, but with a better balance between the types of action; an increased emphasis on areas which are likely to have a direct and sustained impact on weight; and those actions which could gain political and public support in the shorter term.

11 Conclusions and recommendations

Substantial work has taken place both in response to the ORM and alongside it, however 5 years on the prevalence of overweight and obesity remains high with the underlying trends heading upwards, particularly in disadvantaged groups. This is a long term, serious issue and is in need of further action. Without the considerable effort to date the situation might have been worse, however it is clear that current work is not sufficient to reduce the prevalence across all population groups. Maternal overweight and obesity and the increase in type II diabetes are major concerns.

As the evidence base underpinning the ORM remains valid with some areas strengthened, the conclusion must be that the next step is to build on the ORM by addressing the gaps and barriers to effective implementation, especially where progress has been more challenging.

a) Recommendation 1

The development of a revised ORM would benefit from being led by a dedicated specialist supported by an expert group and the setting up of a formal review process. The ORM should be revised in light of progress and updated to include:

- recognition of the epidemic nature of the problem in that all population groups are affected and, accepting the principle, as defined by WHO that an epidemic can only be resolved by government-led action, set goals to stop the increase in overweight and obesity across all population groups in Scotland. This should acknowledge the need to take a full life course approach which prioritises early years, but also addresses young people and later life;
- recognition of the need for coordination of action(s) on prevention, weight management and treatment in establishing a national weight management programme;
- action to increase public and professional awareness and understanding;
- action to tackle inequalities through action at locality level using co-production and assets-based approaches;
- ensuring effort is maintained in both tackling the long term environmental and regulatory actions and action aimed at individual behaviours;
- auditing the range of policies that impact on overweight and obesity with a view to increasing integration, effective implementation and assessment of progress;

- strengthening the national and local infrastructure to address obesity and overweight and clarify accountability;
- reviewing the funding available for direct interventions to address overweight and obesity and that funding is identified to deal with preventive strategies, treatment and health conditions attributable to overweight and obesity;
- formally reviewing the measurements used for overweight and obesity and the way in which existing data can be used more effectively to improve understanding and enable effective monitoring at both local and national levels;
- establishing a comprehensive strategy for research, evaluation, and service development, including, but not exclusively government funded research, to prevent and manage obesity and overweight;
- working across the whole food system on actions that are likely to have direct impact on weight;
- increasing physical activity and reducing sedentary behaviour for all with a focus on the inactive and overweight; and
- encouraging leadership from the NHS, putting a priority on reducing staff overweight and obesity.

b) Recommendation 2

In view of the epidemic nature of the problem, local action should be led by Directors of Public Health and include:

- providing senior leadership to advocate across NHS Boards and Local Authorities, Joint Adult Health and Social Care Boards, and Early Years Collaboratives to develop strong partnerships, for example with town planners and building designers;
- creating and taking the opportunities provided by health and social care integration and Community Planning Partnerships (CPPs) for coordinated action, monitoring and reporting to tackle the epidemic locally; and
- focusing on inequalities by taking a community and place based approach, with an emphasis on the obesogenic environment.

c) Recommendation 3

Key national agencies[†] should increase coordination of action on overweight and obesity including:

- developing and maintaining shared outcome and evaluation frameworks;
- improving data though linkage, trend analysis and filling current gaps using appropriate outcome measures for excess body fat accumulation and its health consequences;
- increasing public and professional awareness; and
- improving practice through networks and major national events.

[†] Key agencies would include: Food Standards Scotland, sportscotland, Transport Scotland, NHS Health Scotland, Education Scotland, NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland, NHS Education Scotland, COSLA and voluntary sector organisations (e.g. Diabetes UK, British Heart Foundation, Scottish Cancer Prevention Network) and Obesity Action Scotland and others with an interest in reducing overweight and obesity).

12 References

(1) Scottish Diabetes Survey Monitoring Group. Scottish Diabetes Survey 2014. 2014.

(2) Centre for Maternal and Child Enquiries. Maternal obesity in the UK: findings from a national project. 2010.

(3) Scottish Government. Preventing Overweight and Obesity in Scotland: A Route Map Towards Healthy Weight 2010; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2010/02/17140721/0. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(4) Scottish Government. Obesity Route Map - Action Plan 2011; Available at: http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2011/03/17104457/0. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(5) Scottish Government. Healthy Eating, Active Living: An action plan to improve diet, increase physical activity and tackle obesity (2008-2011) 2008; Available at: http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2008/06/20155902/0. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(6) Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Management of Obesity. (SIGN

Guideline No 115) - sign115.pdf 2010; Available at: <u>http://sign.ac.uk/pdf/sign115.pdf</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(7) Hannah M, Conacher A, Tyrrell L. Obesity – A Route Map towards a Healthy Weight Scotland: Report of Engagement Process

ScotPHN 2010. 2010; Available at:

http://www.scotphn.net/pdf/Route_Map_Report_Final_150320111.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(8) McConville S, Marcinkiewicz A, Bradshaw P, Calcutt E, Hussy D, Ormston R and Wills W. Evaluation of the Child Healthy Weight Programme: Final Report 2013; Available at: <u>http://www.healthscotland.com/documents/22544.aspx</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(9) World Cancer Research Fund UK. Healthy weight and cancer prevention | World Cancer Research Fund UK Available at: <u>http://www.wcrf-uk.org/uk/preventing-</u>

cancer/ways-reduce-cancer-risk/healthy-weight-and-cancer-prevention. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(10) Scottish Parliament.

SPICe Briefing: Obesity in Scotland. Available at:

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S4/SB_15-

01 Obesity in Scotland.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(11) WHO. Global Database on Body Mass Index. 2004; Available at:

http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html. Accessed 11/2/2015, 2015.

(12) Grant I, Fischbacher C, Whyte B. Obesity in Scotland An epidemiology briefing. 2007; Available at:

http://www.scotpho.org.uk/downloads/scotphoreports/scotpho070925_obesityinscotla nd_rep.pdf. Accessed 10/30/2015, 2015.

(13) Government Office for Science and Department of Health. Tackling obesities:

future choices - project report 2nd edition. 17 October 2007; Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/tackling-obesities-future-choices, 2015.

(14) Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition. Carbohydrates and Health -

SACN_Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445503 /SACN_Carbohydrates_and_Health.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(15) WHO. WHO | Sugars intake for adults and children 2015; Available at:

http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/guidelines/sugars_intake/en/. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(16) Bromley C et al (2014). Scottish Health Survey 2013: Main Report. Obesity.
(Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/12/9982/18</u> Accessed
10/27/2015)

(17) Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Primary 1 Body Mass Index Statistics School Year 2013/14. 2015; Available at:

https://isdscotland.scot.nhs.uk/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2015-02-17/2015-02-17-P1-BMI-Report.pdf?72420901061. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(18) Scottish Government. The Scottish Health Survey 2013: Volume 1: Main Report

2 December 2014; Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/12/9982</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(19) Mackie. P, McCann. A. Report of the Scottish Public Health Obesity Special Interest Group: Expert Group on the Development of the Child Healthy Weight Programme in Scotland . 2014; Available at: http://www.scotphn.net/pdf/2015_01_29_CHW_Report_to_Scottish_Government_(Fin al).pdf. Accessed August 2015.

(20) Scottish Government. Obesity Indicators 2014: Monitoring Progress for the Prevention of Obesity Route Map Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0046/00464835.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(21) Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Child Health Programme. Available at: <u>http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Child-</u> <u>Health/Child-Health-Programme/</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(22) Information Services Division, NHS National Services Division. Maternity and Births | Births in Scottish Hospitals | Health Topics | ISD Scotland August 2013; Available at: <u>http://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Maternity-and-Births/Births/</u>, 2015.

(23) Personal Correspondance 2015. ISD.

(24) Information Services Division, NHS National Services Scotland. Breastfeeding Statistics Financial Year 2014/15. 2015; Available at:

https://isdscotland.scot.nhs.uk/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2015-10-

<u>27/2015-10-27-Breastfeeding-Summary.pdf?71180361510</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015,

August 2015.

(25) McAndrew F, Thompson J, Fellowes L, Large A, Speed M and Renfrew M. Infant Feeding Survey 2010. 2012; Available at:

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB08694/Infant-Feeding-Survey-2010-

Consolidated-Report.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(26) Lobstein T, Jackson-Leach R, Moodie ML, Hall KD, Gortmaker SL, Swinburn BA,

et al. Child and adolescent obesity: part of a bigger picture The Lancet

2015;385(9986):2510 <last_page> 2520.

(27) Johnson PC, Logue J, McConnachie A, Abu-Rmeileh NM, Hart C, Upton MN, et al. Intergenerational change and familial aggregation of body mass index Eur J Epidemiol 2012 Jan;27(1):53-61.

(28) Food Standards Scotland. Monitoring progress towards the Scottish Dietary Goals 2001 to 2012 - Report 1. May 2015; Available at: http://www.foodstandards.gov.scot/monitoring-progress-towards-scottish-dietarygoals-2001-2012-report-1. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(29) SACN/RCPCH. Consideration of issues around the use of BMI centile thresholds for defining underweight, overweight and obesity in children aged 2-18 years in the UK. April 2012; Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/339411 /SACN_RCPCH_defining_child_underweight_overweight_and_obesity_in_the_UK_ 2012.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(30) Scottish Government. Let's Make Scotland More Active: A strategy for physical activity Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2003/02/16324/17895</u>, 2015.

(31) Scottish Government. Improving Maternal and Infant Nutrition: A Framework for Action Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2011/01/13095228/0</u>, 2015.

(32) Scottish Government. Recipe For Success - Scotland's National Food and Drink Policy Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2009/06/25133322/0</u>. Accessed 11/3/2015, 2015.

(33) Food Standards Agency and Scottish Government. Supporting Healthy Choices:

A framework for voluntary action An invitation to the food industry to work in

partnership with Government in Scotland. 2014; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0045/00454204.pdf. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(34) Scottish Government. Beyond the School Gate - Improving Food Choices in the School Community June 3, 2014; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/05/4143, 2015.

(35) Scottish Government. Becoming a Good Food Nation

Recipe for Success: Scotland's National Food & Drink Policy. June 18, 2014;

Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/06/1195</u>, 2015.

(36) Scottish Government. National Planning Framework 2014; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Built-Environment/planning/National-Planning-Framework, 2015.

(37) Scottish Government. Getting it right for every child (GIRFEC) 2014; Available at: http://www.gov.scot/Topics/People/Young-People/gettingitright, 2015.

(38) UNICEF. The UNICEF UK Baby Friendly Initiative Available at:

http://www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly/. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(39) NHS Health Scotland. Health Improvement Action in Hospital Settings 2013;

Available at: <u>http://www.healthscotland.com/documents/22106.aspx</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(40) Scottish Government. Healthy Living facts for adults and kids | Take life on, one step at a time Available at: http://www.takelifeon.co.uk/. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(41) Scottish Government. Eat Better Feel Better Available at:

http://www.eatbetterfeelbetter.co.uk/. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(42) NHS Health Scotland. Outcome Frameworks for Health Improvement: Obesity Available at: <u>http://www.healthscotland.com/ofhi/Obesity/content/obesitytools.html</u>, 2015.

(43) Scottish Government. Scotland Performs, National Performance Framework, National Outcomes 2007; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/About/Performance/scotPerforms. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(44) WHO. Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of non-communicable

diseases 2013 - 2020. 2013; Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd-action-plan/en/</u>. Accessed 10/27/2015, 2015.

(45) McKinsey Global Institute. Overcoming Obesity: An initial economic analysis. November 2014; Available at:

http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/economic_studies/how_the_world_could_better_fig ht_obesity. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(46) Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Measuring up the medical profession's prescription for the nation's obesity crisis. February 2013; Available at:

http://www.aomrc.org.uk/doc_view/9673-measuring-up. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(47) Royal College of Physicians of Ireland: Policy Group on Obesity. The race we don't want to win: Tackling Ireland's obesity epidemic. 2014; Available at:

http://www.rcpi.ie/content/docs/000001/2051_5_media.pdf?1409562906. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(48) Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity Prev Med 1999 Dec;29(6 Pt 1):563-570.
(49) Mooney J.D. Jepson R. Frank J. Geddes R. Obesity Prevention in Scotland: A

Policy Analysis Using the ANGELO Framework. 2015; Available at:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26227995. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(50) WHO Europe. European Ministerial Conference on Counteracting Obesity -Istanbul 2006. November 2006; Available at:

http://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf_file/0009/87462/E89567.pdf?ua=1. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(51) WHO. Finland curbs childhood obesity by integrating health in all policies. 2015;
Available at: http://www.who.int/features/2015/finland-health-in-all-policies/en/.
Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(52) Scottish Government. Healthy Weight Communities Programme Evaluation 2011; Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2011/08/04154123/0</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(53) Roberto CA, Swinburn B, Hawkes C, Huang TT, Costa SA, Ashe M, et al. Patchy progress on obesity prevention: emerging examples, entrenched barriers, and new thinking The Lancet 2015;385(9985):2400 <last_page> 2409.

(54) WHO. Commission on Ending Childhood Obesity. September 2015; Available at: http://www.who.int/end-childhood-obesity/en/. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(55) WHO Europe. WHO Regional Office for Europe nutrient profile model. 2015; Available at: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-</u>

prevention/nutrition/publications/2015/who-regional-office-for-europe-nutrient-profilemodel. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(56) WHO Europe. Nutrition - Using price policies to promote healthier diets. 2015; Available at: <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-</u>

prevention/nutrition/publications/2015/using-price-policies-to-promote-healthier-diets.

Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(57) Health & Social Care Information Centre. National Child measurement

Programme England 2013-2014. December 2014; Available at:

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/searchcatalogue?productid=16565&q=title:"national+child+m

easurement+programme"&sort=Relevance&size=10&page=1#top. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(58) Department of Health. Healthy Lives, Healthy People. November 2010; Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216096 /dh_127424.pdf. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(59) Public Health England. From evidence into action: opportunities to protect and improve the nation's health. October 2014; Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/366852 /PHE_Priorities.pdf, 2015.

(60) NHS England. The NHS Five Year Forward View. 23 October 2014; Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/, 2015.

(61) UK Parliament. Get people moving to improve nation's health. Available at:

http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-

select/health-committee/news/activity-diet-health-substantive/, 2015.

(62) UK Parliament. Childhood obesity inquiry. Available at:

http://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-

select/health-committee/inquiries/parliament-2015/inquiry/, 2015.

(63) Department of Health. Government response to the House of Commons Health Select Committee report on the Impact of physical activity and diet on health, Sixth Report of Session 2014-15. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445984 /Cm_9001_accessible.pdf, 2015.

(64) Welsh Assembly. Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013. 2013; Available at:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2013/7/pdfs/anaw_20130007_en.pdf. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(65) Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety Northern Ireland. A Fitter Future For All Year Progress Report 2012-2014. 2014; Available at:

http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/a_fittter_future_for_all_update_report_2012 - 2014. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015. (66) Public Health Agency, Northern Ireland. Choose to Live Better. Available at: <u>http://www.choosetolivebetter.com/</u>, 2015.

(67) Business in the Community Northern Ireland. £ for lb 12 week challenge.

Available at: <u>http://www.bitcni.org.uk/what-we-do/people/employee-engagement-and-</u> wellbeing/for-lb-12-week-challenge/, 2015.

(68) Jin Zhu, Ngaire Coombs, Emmanouil Stamatakis. Temporal trends in socioeconomic inequalities in obesity prevalence among economically-active working-age adults in Scotland between 1995 and 2011: a population-based repeated cross-sectional study. March 2015; Available at:

http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/6/e006739.full, 2015.

(69) Royal College of Physicians. Action on obesity: Comprehensive care for all. January 2013; Available at: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/action-obesity-comprehensive-care-all</u>, 2015.

(70) Hawkes C, Smith TG, Jewell J, Wardle J, Hammond RA, Friel S, et al. Smart food policies for obesity prevention 2015; Available at:

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2814%2961745-<u>1/abstract</u>. Accessed 9985, 385.

(71) Huang TT, Cawley JH, Ashe M, Costa SA, Frerichs LM, Zwicker L, et al.
Mobilisation of public support for policy actions to prevent obesity 2015; Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2814%2961743-8/fulltext?rss%3Dyes. Accessed 9985, 385.

(72) Dietz WH, Baur LA, Hall K, Puhl RM, Taveras EM, Uauy R, et al. Management of obesity: improvement of health-care training and systems for prevention and care
2015; Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2814%2961748-7/abstract. Accessed 9986, 385.

(73) Swinburn B, Kraak V, Rutter H, Vandevijvere S, Lobstein T, Sacks G, et al. Strengthening of accountability systems to create healthy food environments and reduce global obesity 2015; Available at:

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2814%2961747-5/abstract. Accessed 9986, 385. (74) NICE. Obesity: working with local communities. 2012; Available at:

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph42. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(75) NICE. Preventing excess weight gain. 2015; Available at:

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng7. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(76) Scottish Office. Eating for Health: a Diet Action Plan for Scotland. 1996;

Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0040/00400745.pdf</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(77) World Cancer Research Fund International. NOURISHING framework. Available at: http://www.wcrf.org/int/policy/nourishing-framework. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(78) Access to Nutrition Index. Global Index 2013. 2013; Available at: https://www.accesstonutrition.org/global-index-2013, 2015.

(79) Natural England. Green space access, green space use, physical activity and overweight. 2011; Available at:

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20150303045228/http://publications.natural england.org.uk/publication/40017?category=49002. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(80) Bobrow KL, Quigley MA, Green J, Reeves GK, Beral V, Million Women Study Collaborators. Persistent effects of women's parity and breastfeeding patterns on their body mass index: results from the Million Women Study Int J Obes (Lond) 2013 May;37(5):712-717.

(81) Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. The Public Politics and Child Health: Eight Calls to Action. 2015; Available at: <u>http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/news/nine-ten-britons-call-children's-healthcare-be-priority-nhs</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(82) Vlassopoulos A, Combet E, Lean ME. Changing distributions of body size and adiposity with age Int J Obes (Lond) 2014 Jun;38(6):857-864.

(83) Nikolaou CK, Hankey CR, Lean ME. Calorie-labelling: does it impact on calorie purchase in catering outlets and the views of young adults? Int J Obes (Lond) 2015 Mar;39(3):542-545.

(84) Nikolaou CK, Hankey CR, Lean ME. Poster presentation: Preventing weight gain in young adults: a randomised controlled trial Human Nutrition.

(85) Hunt K, Wyke S, Gray CM, Anderson AS, Brady A, Bunn C, et al. A gendersensitised weight loss and healthy living programme for overweight and obese men delivered by Scottish Premier League football clubs (FFIT): a pragmatic randomised controlled trial The Lancet 2014;383(9924):1211 <last_page> 1221.

(86) Scottish Government. Diabetes Improvement Plan 2014; Available at:

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/11/6742. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(87) Annie S Anderson, Maureen Macleod, Nanette Mutrie, Jacqueline Sugden, Hilary Dobson, Shaun Treweek, Ronan E O'Carroll, Alistair Thompson, Alison Kirk, Graham Brennan and Sally Wyke. Breast cancer risk reduction - is it feasible to initiate a randomised controlled trial of a lifestyle intervention programme (ActWell) within a national breast screening programme? 17 December 2014; Available at: http://www.ijbnpa.org/content/11/1/156. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(88) Anderson AS, Craigie AM, Caswell S, Treweek S, Stead M, Macleod M, et al. The impact of a bodyweight and physical activity intervention (BeWEL) initiated through a national colorectal cancer screening programme: randomised controlled trial BMJ 2014 Mar 7;348:g1823.

(89) McKay J, Wright A, Lowry R, Steele K, Ryde G, Mutrie N. Walking on prescription: the utility of a pedometer pack for increasing physical activity in primary care Patient Educ Couns 2009 Jul;76(1):71-76.

(90) NICE. Obesity prevention. 2006; Available at:

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg43. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(91) Scottish Government. Report of the Ministerial Task Force on Health Inequalities (2013) 2014; Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/03/2561</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(92) Scottish Government. Community Empowerment (Scotland) Bill. 2014; Available at: <u>http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0045/00457535.pdf</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(93) Food Standards Agency. FSS Presentation - Scottish Conference 2014 - Food a fact of life. 2014; Available at:

http://www.foodafactoflife.org.uk/Sheet.aspx?SiteId=20&SectionId=98&ContentId=72 6, 2015.

(94) Macintyre S. Inequalities in health in Scotland: what are they and what can we do about them?

Occasional Paper No 17. October 2007; Available at:

www.sphsu.mrc.ac.uk/reports/OP017.pdf, 2015.

(95) WHO International. Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. 2003; Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/fctc/text_download/en/</u>. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(96) NHS Health Scotland. Development of key themes for physical activity

promotion: Early Years - children and young people. 2012; Available at:

http://www.paha.org.uk/Resource/development-of-key-themes-for-physical-activitypromotion-for-the-early-years-children-and-young-people. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(97) NHS Health Scotland. Development of key themes for physical activity promotion: adults and older adults. 2012; Available at:

http://www.paha.org.uk/Resource/development-of-key-themes-for-physical-activitypromotion-for-adults-and-older-adults. Accessed 10/28/2015, 2015.

(98) Department of Health, Social services and Public Safety for Northern Ireland

2015. Public campaign on waist circumference pre-test.

13 Appendices

Appendix 1 – <u>Methodology</u>

Appendix 2 – <u>Literature Review</u>

Appendix 3 – <u>Scottish Policy Links</u>

Appendix 4 – <u>ORM Activity Updates</u>



For further information contact:

ScotPHN c/o NHS Health Scotland Meridian Court 5 Cadogan Street Glasgow G2 6QE

Email: nhs.healthscotland-scotphn@nhs.net

Web: www.scotphn.net

Twitter: @NHS_ScotPHN